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    THE PRINCIPALS




    William Fisher, aka Rudolf Abel, Emil Goldfus, Martin Collins, Robert Callan, Frank, Milton, and Agent Mark: KGB colonel and the most senior undercover Soviet agent in North America from 1948 to 1957




    Francis Gary Powers: U-2 pilot trained by the U.S. Air Force and employed by the CIA to fly reconnaissance missions over Soviet Russia; shot down May 1, 1960




    Frederic Pryor: PhD student at the Free University of West Berlin who was arrested by East German secret police on suspicion of spying but released to his parents as part of the Glienicke Bridge exchange on February 10, 1962




    KGB




    Reino Hayhanen, aka Eugene Maki and Agent Vik: Fisher’s KGB subordinate in New York from 1952 to 1957 and the man who would betray him to the United States




    Pavel Sudoplatov: KGB general who masterminded the assassination of Leon Trotsky in 1940 and adopted Fisher as his protégé later in World War II.




    Yuri Drozdov: KGB officer assigned to correspond with James Donovan from East Germany in hopes of arranging an exchange of Powers for Abel




    Alexander “the Swede” Orlov: prewar Soviet “illegal” agent who defected to the United States, where he was the only person who knew Fisher’s true identity




    Ivan Shishkin: senior KGB officer who posed as second secretary at the Soviet embassy in East Berlin to represent Moscow in negotiations for the Powers-Abel swap




    CIA




    Marty Knutson: U-2 pilot whose July 1956 photographs of Engels Air Force Base in Russia helped to demolish the theory of a “bomber gap” threatening U.S. national security




    Bob Ericson: U-2 pilot who flew the penultimate Soviet overflight of April 9, 1960, and was Powers’s backup pilot on May 1




    Richard Bissell: civilian head of the CIA’s U-2 program from 1954 to 1962 as the agency’s deputy director and then director of plans




    Allen Dulles: Director of Central Intelligence from 1953 to 1961; lobbied President Eisenhower for authorization for U-2 overflights of the Soviet Union and was responsible for the timing of Powers’s flight on May 1, 1960




    Stan Beerli: air force colonel who joined the CIA to become civilian head of Detachment B, the U-2 unit based in Adana, Turkey, where he designed the Operation Quickmove security procedures for Soviet overflights




    Joe Murphy: CIA security officer in Adana who was later assigned to identify Powers on Glienicke Bridge in Berlin on February 10, 1962




    SOVIET LEADERSHIP




    Nikita Khrushchev: Soviet premier from 1958 to 1964; abandoned bold plans for nuclear disarmament and walked out of 1960 Great Power Summit meeting in Paris after the Gary Powers overflight of May 1, 1960




    Roman Rudenko: Soviet prosecutor general and veteran of the Nuremberg Nazi war criminal trials who presided at the trial of Gary Powers in August 1960




    Sergei Biryuzov: marshal of the Soviet Air Defense Forces who coordinated efforts to intercept Gary Powers and told Khrushchev once the shoot-down was confirmed




    Yevgeni Savitsky: colonel-general in the Soviet Air Defense Forces who ordered Igor Mentyukov to ram Powers in his Sukhoi Su-9 fighter, knowing the mission would be suicidal if successful




    U.S. LEADERSHIP




    Dwight D. Eisenhower: president of the United States from 1953 to 1961; authorized the U-2 program but bitterly regretted the flight of May 1, 1960




    John F. Kennedy: president of the United States from 1961 to 1963; promised as a candidate to close a “missile gap” that did not exist and declined to meet Powers on his return to the United States




    William F. Tompkins: U.S. attorney assigned to prosecute “Rudolf Abel” (William Fisher) in 1957; called Fisher’s espionage “an offense directed against our very existence”




    James Donovan: former U.S. prosecutor at Nuremberg trials of Nazi war criminals assigned to defend Fisher at his trial; later brokered the Glienicke Bridge exchange in Berlin




    Llewellyn Thompson: U.S. ambassador to Moscow from 1957 to 1962; learned of Powers’s survival minutes too late to prevent the release of a false cover story by NASA




    Frank Meehan: U.S. diplomat assigned to assist the family of Frederic Pryor in Berlin in 1961; subsequently became the last U.S. ambassador to East Germany




    SUPPORTING ACTORS




    Burt Silverman: Brooklyn artist and friend of “Emil Goldfus” (William Fisher) whose typewriter was used to help convict Fisher of espionage against the United States




    James Bozart: Brooklyn newspaper delivery boy who picked up a “hollow nickel” dropped by Reino Hayhanen containing a microfilm eventually decoded and traced to Fisher




    Oliver Powers: miner, cobbler, and father of Gary Powers; requested an exchange of “Abel” for his son in a letter to Khrushchev and traveled to Moscow for his son’s trial in 1960




    Millard Pryor: businessman and father of Frederic Pryor; traveled to Berlin in 1961 to seek his son’s release from the notorious Stasi Investigation Prison at Hohenschönhausen




    Wolfgang Vogel: East German lawyer who served as go-between in Millard Pryor’s efforts to contact East German authorities




    Carl McAfee: Virginia lawyer who traveled with Oliver Powers to Moscow for the Gary Powers trial and pleaded unsuccessfully for leniency to Leonid Brezhnev, the future Soviet premier




    Kelly Johnson: founder of Lockheed’s secret “Skunk Works” hangar in Burbank, California, designer of the U-2, and employer of Gary Powers after he parted ways with the CIA




    Dave Clark: pioneer of the use of stretch fabrics in women’s underwear and designer of the pressure suits worn by all U-2 pilots including Powers at the time of his last flight over Russia




    Marvin Makinen: American student at the Free University of West Berlin who was sentenced to eight years in prison for spying on Soviet military installations in 1961 but released after two years at the urging of James Donovan
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    Wherever possible I have traced and interviewed those still alive who played roles in this story as it unfolded fifty years ago. Remarks from these interviews are related in the present tense to distinguish them from material found in documents, diaries, or secondary sources.
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    February 10, 1962




    The road out of Berlin was practically deserted. It was a Saturday morning, and cold. The forecast was for snow and the rumors were keeping people in town. All the news bureaus had sent reporters to Checkpoint Charlie because it seemed the obvious place. But the forecast was wrong, and so were the rumors.




    At about nine thirty a lone taxi cleared the last traffic lights in Wilmersdorf and headed west on Königstrasse, picking up speed. For a while it barreled through pristine woodland across a big, diamond-shaped island formed by the Wannsee and the river Havel. Then it crested a rise, descended for half a mile in a gradual left curve, and stopped at a traffic barrier. Beyond the barrier were a watchtower and a bridge—a solid span of green-painted steel girders across the Havel, bisected by a thin white line. Beyond the bridge was another watchtower and another barrier, beyond them a free-fire zone for the East German frontier police, and beyond that the wall—not the short section that divided the heart of Berlin but the long one that sealed off the Allied sectors from the East. At the white line the American sector ended and the Soviet empire began. It was the closest thing on the planet to a land frontier between the world’s two nuclear superpowers.




    The taxi turned to be ready to head back into town. Out of it stepped a young woman with a notebook. She had fair hair and blue eyes and was shaking with nerves.




    She glanced over at the military police guarding the barrier and thought better of approaching them. Instead she settled on an officer walking toward her in the uniform of the regular West German police. He carried a briefcase and a thermos and looked young, like her.




    “Help me, please,” she said.




    He stopped long enough to hear her say that this was the chance of a lifetime, that her career would stop before it started if she went back with an empty notebook. He replied that he couldn’t simply stand there and talk to her. The MPs were watching.




    “Walk with me, then,” she said.




    To the north of the road a triangular grassy slope descended to the water, with a track on the uphill side leading to a cream-colored summer house. The MPs had a clear view along the track but not of the whole slope. Trees and shrubs marked it off from the road, and the woman found that the farther down the slope she walked, the better cover they gave her. She set off down it, and the young police officer followed.




    “Maybe he felt pity for me,” she says half a century later. “I took him for a walk behind the bushes and he told me the whole story.”




    It had been early—soon after dawn, he said. He had seen a small convoy of cars approach the bridge from the American side and another from the East German side. Groups of men had spilled out at each end and waited. Then three from each group had walked to the white line and exchanged a few words. There had been a delay, and then a shout, and then two figures had crossed the line, one in each direction.




    Annette von Broecker wrote it all down. It was not the full story, but it was better than anyone else would get that day, including the American networks. She wanted more detail, and there was some that she could add herself—a hole in the cloud above the bridge, sunlight pouring through it, two swans gliding back and forth below.




    “My heart was pounding,” she remembers. “I kept telling myself what to put in. ‘Swans, sun, spies. Swans, sun, spies.’” Then she ran back up the slope to a pay phone and called the bureau. Her editor told her to calm down and fed in some background as she went along, but the swans stayed in.




    At 3:00 a.m. Washington time, President Kennedy’s press secretary briefed him on what the police officer had seen. That left Kennedy better informed than von Broecker’s readers, but not by much and not for long. The story she filed that morning made the front page of every paper in the free world with an interest in the unfree world. It recorded a kind of spy swap that had not been tried before, in which the protagonists had to be brought to the same place at the same time and bartered with utmost care under the quiet gaze of snipers hidden in the forests on each side. This was human trafficking with the blessing of two superpowers.




    It was a story that started with a search for weapons of mass destruction. Its main players were its foot soldiers. They followed orders, but not ordinary orders. For the best part of seven years they had been drawn deep into the race between the United States and the Soviet Union to establish which was closer to acquiring the means to annihilate the other. When they ran out of luck, the consequences could be beyond disastrous. Just by being human they could change the course of history, and one of them did.




    What the policeman told von Broecker that morning centered on three men, not two. The youngest, at that moment, was with his parents for the first time in three years, struggling to grasp that he was free and that he could stop thinking about suicide. He was a twenty-eight-year-old Yale postgraduate student interrogated by the East German secret police—the Stasi—every day for the preceding five months on suspicion of espionage, of which he was entirely innocent. He was a young man with an inquiring mind and a serious case of wanderlust who had driven blithely into the vortex of Berlin’s paranoia in a bright red VW sports car. His personality type was not one that the Stasi, a monster sustained by suspicion and obsessed with conformity, found easy to comprehend. He was a joker, a thinker, a free spirit. His name was Frederic Pryor.




    The next youngest had crossed the bridge from the East German side to the American in a cheap Russian suit, carrying a cardboard suitcase. It was a strange homecoming for a pilot, especially this pilot. He had entered Soviet airspace two years earlier wearing a custom-fitted pressure suit from the David Clark Company of Worcester, Massachusetts, to prevent his bodily fluids evaporating in the event that his cockpit sprang a leak. His mission was known only to the White House and a small team of CIA operatives scattered between Langley and the wilder fringes of Eurasia. His aircraft, a Lockheed U-2, had crossed the Kazakh steppe at two and a half times the height of Everest, then broken up and tumbled onto Russian soil not far from Sverdlovsk.




    Falling from seventy thousand feet, there are no standing orders. To begin with there is only the hiss of oxygen, the slowly tilting blue black dome of the stratosphere, and the deathly quiet realization that the altimeter is starting to unwind. That is all this pilot had to work with. That and the time it takes to drop thirteen vertical miles at an average speed of a hundred miles an hour, which is about ten minutes. He was not supposed to live. If it was a rocket that hit him, the blast should have taken him out with the plane. Even if it was something else, there was almost no chance that his pressure suit would save him. At seventy thousand feet, blood boils in ten seconds. It was regrettable, they all agreed—the tight handful that knew—but the pilot was a goner.




    He survived the blast. As he fell, he forced himself to think. As his cockpit began to spin, he ruled out the strategies that would definitely kill him. As he fell through thirty thousand feet, he calmly popped his canopy. As he kept on spinning, he cut his oxygen supply and floated free. He breathed what air there was six miles up, and five, and four. He thanked whoever packed his parachute when it opened. He looked at the countryside below him and thought it looked a bit like Virginia. He picked a spot and landed hard. In Washington, they had no way of knowing, but he survived it all.




    His name was Francis Gary Powers, Frank to his friends, the son of a Virginia coal miner who defied his father’s ardent wish that he become a doctor and became a fighter jock instead. He had never contemplated suicide, though there was no shortage of people back home who wished he had. His long fall to earth on May 1, 1960, led swiftly and directly to the worst rupture in U.S.-Soviet relations since the Berlin airlift of 1948. It wrecked the Paris summit later that month at which Eisenhower and Khrushchev had hoped to launch a new era of détente. It threw into high gear the arms race that took the world to the brink of nuclear war during the Cuban missile crisis of 1962 and did not end until the collapse of the Soviet empire nearly three decades later. From the moment Powers was reported missing, there were well-placed skeptics on both sides of the cold war who suspected that his entire mission had been planned to fail, and in doing so to prevent the outbreak of superpower peace. It is a theory that lingers to this day.




    The oldest player in von Broecker’s story walked away from the American sector toward the death strip and the wall and his idea of freedom. He stooped a little and smoked too much, which gave him a bad cough and a worse case of sinusitis. According to the New York Times, the CIA, and the Supreme Court of the United States, he was a Soviet master spy. It was a description that delighted his handlers and went with him to his grave. His name, allegedly, was Rudolf Abel. His aliases from nine years spent roaming North America under deep cover included Emil Goldfus, Martin Collins, Robert Callan, Frank, Mark, and Milton, shortened to Milt by coconspirators and admirers. In retirement and death he has acquired an aura as the last of the great Soviet “illegals”—not that Russia stopped trying to smuggle people like him into the United States. His professional heirs include the ten “unregistered agents” of Moscow uncovered by the FBI and sent briskly home in 2010, among them the bewitching redhead known as Anna Chapman and instantly immortalized by New York’s tabloids. They and the courts quickly found out most of what there was to know about Miss Chapman. They were less thorough with Abel. Despite five years of exhaustive American due process, no one in the West knew who he was or where he came from, or what he spied on. Some of that is still not known, but this much is: his real name was William Fisher. He was exceptionally good at shrinking coded messages onto microdots, and he was British.




    *  *  *




    Thirty years later—in 1992—I hitched a ride in a Russian army truck across the roof of the world. That was what the driver called it, but Western cartographers know it as the Pamir plateau. It is a moonscape of thin brown grass and permanent snow, none of it lower than fifteen thousand feet. Across it winds a four-hundred-mile road built by Soviet frontier guards for no other reason than to defend their frontier. To the east of the plateau lies Tibet, to the south, a thin strip of Afghanistan, and beyond that the unspeakably jagged peaks of northern Pakistan.




    Three hours along the road the truck stopped. The soldiers with me in the cab pointed toward the Afghan border and a tiny cluster of white domes just inside what had, only a few months before, been Soviet territory. The domes were a radar station. “That’s where we detected Powers,” the soldiers said. They used the word “we” even though the oldest of them would have been a baby at the time. Their inherited pride was as memorable as the freezing desolation of the place.




    On the same trip I took a taxi halfway across Kazakhstan to Baikonur, the Soviet Cosmodrome, to watch a night launch by a Proton rocket with a German satellite in its nose. Later I trundled north over the steppe, along a lonely spur of the Trans-Siberian railway line, and pestered a sleepy crew of bureaucrats to let me into the Semipalatinsk nuclear test site. Eventually they relented. A charity had stuck a four-sided post in the dirt at the entrance with may peace prevail on earth in a different language on each side. Inside the site, an irritated Russian army colonel accused me of “radiophobia” for taking out a Geiger counter.




    Times had changed. In 1960 the only way for a foreigner to see Baikonur or Semipalatinsk was via the inverted periscope through which U-2 pilots peered down on their targets from seventy thousand feet. Only Powers and a handful of others had that privilege. The same was true of Chelyabinsk, a grotesquely polluted arms metropolis in the Urals that was one of the last places Powers photographed before being shot down—and one of the first places I visited as a Moscow-based reporter in 1999. We were taken there by Green Cross International (chairman: Mikhail Gorbachev). Before that, covering show business and equally serious topics from Los Angeles, I interviewed women who had, they said, been abducted by aliens a few miles from where Powers trained in the Nevada desert, and I played cricket where he died in the San Fernando Valley. Wherever I went, his ghost seemed to have gotten there first.




    The legacy of Francis Gary Powers is haunting enough anyway for how it changed the world. It gave us thirty years of cold war that might very well have been avoided. But it also gave us what the young policeman witnessed on Glienicke Bridge—a faint echo of the three-hour truce on Christmas Day in 1916, when troops from the opposing armies in the Flanders mud emerged from their trenches for a surreal game of football. Before and after those moments, human folly reigned supreme. Pryor, Powers, and Fisher bore more than their share of it. This is their story.
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    Shock and awe was not invented for Saddam Hussein. It was invented for Joseph Stalin, and it worked pretty well.




    On July 24, 1946, as most of Russia slept, a team of U.S. Navy frogmen guided a heavy steel container to its final resting place in the clear waters of Bikini Lagoon, 2,500 miles west of Honolulu. They stabilized it with cables ninety feet below an anchored amphibious assault ship that gloried in the name LSM-60. The container was made from the conning tower of the USS Salmon, a scrapped navy submarine, and inside it was a working replica of the plutonium bomb that had killed eighty thousand people at Nagasaki the previous year. That evening, on a support vessel outside the lagoon, the frogmen ate T-bone steaks with all the trimmings.




    Around the LSM-60, like giant moon shadows on the water’s calm surface, a target fleet of eighty-five more ships spent that night emptied of crew and supplies, with no role left except to sink. One of the closest to the bomb was the USS Arkansas, a 27,000-ton battleship that had carried President Taft to Panama before the First World War and bombarded Cherbourg and Iwo Jima in the Second. For most of her life the only way for a battleship to go down had been with guns blazing, but the nuclear age had changed that. It turned out that with the help of an atom bomb a battleship could go down like a toy in a bath. It could be flicked onto its bow and rammed into the seabed so that its superstructure fell off as if never even bolted on.




    Shortly after breakfast time on the morning of the twenty-fifth, the Arkansas was photographed from every angle as the bomb in the steel container was detonated 170 yards from her hull. Cameras in a B-29 bomber twenty-five thousand feet above the lagoon and a little to the south captured the sight of a huge disc of ocean turning white in an instant. That was the water beneath the Arkansas being vaporized.




    The shockwave from the initial blast rolled the ship onto her side and ripped off her propellers. A six-thousand-foot column of spray and water, created in about two and a half seconds, then heaved her into a vertical position in which two thirds of her length were clearly visible ten miles away, dwarfed by the largest man-made waterspout in history. She has lain upside down on the floor of the lagoon ever since.




    The Arkansas was one of ten ships sunk outright by what came to be known as the Baker shot. It was the second of two nuclear tests conducted at Bikini with undisguised panache as the world adjusted to an awesome new technology (and to the daring swimsuit it inspired; the first-ever bikini, presented in Paris that month, was called l’atome, and the second was a buttock-baring thong described by one fashion writer as what the survivor of a nuclear blast could expect to be wearing as the fireball subsided).




    Participation in the tests by U.S. military personnel was voluntary but popular. In shirtsleeves and sunglasses, 37,000 men extended their wartime service for a year to help set up the tests and to see for themselves the power of the weapon that had brought Japan to its knees.




    Pat Bradley was there, up a tree with a movie camera on Bikini atoll to film the blast and the tsunami it produced—a single ninety-foot wave that subsided before it hit the island, then three smaller waves. “It took a couple of minutes before the first wave came in to the atoll,” he remembered. “The second came in higher, then the third completely covered the island four to six feet deep.”




    A lean and thoughtful young air force captain named Stan Beerli was there too. He had survived the world war in B-17 bombers over Italy and would survive the cold war in the regulation dark suit of the CIA. His tasks would include trying to keep Gary Powers and the U-2 in the shadows where they belonged, but for the time being the cold war was pure spectacle.




    The foreign and domestic press were welcome at Bikini. The Baker shot was witnessed by 131 reporters, including a full Soviet contingent. With Warner Bros.’ help, the Pentagon released a propaganda film of the blast for anyone who had missed the initial coverage, and Admiral William “Spike” Blandy, who oversaw the operation, posed with his wife cutting an angel food cake in the shape of a mushroom cloud.




    Responding to public anxiety before the blast, Blandy promised that he was “not an atomic playboy” and that the bomb would not “blow out the bottom of the sea and let all the water run down the hole.” This was true, but it could still do a lot of damage. In the summer of 1947 Life magazine published a long article based on official studies of the intense radioactive fallout from the Baker bomb. It concluded that if a similar weapon were to explode off the tip of Manhattan in a stiff southerly wind, two million people would die.




    America had finished the war with a pair of atom bombs and started the peace in the same way. President Truman’s message to Stalin could not have been clearer if written in blood. It was a warning not to contemplate starting a new war in Europe trusting in the Red Army’s old-fashioned strength in numbers. And it signaled more concisely than any speech that Truman had accepted the central argument of George Kennan’s famous “Long Telegram,” sent from the U.S. embassy in Moscow six months before the tests: the Soviet Union had to be contained. As Truman himself put it: “If we could just have Stalin and his boys see one of these things, there wouldn’t be any question about another war.”




    Stalin refused to be intimidated. He had not sacrificed twenty million people to defeat Fascism only to be told where to set the limits on Stalinism. And yet he had a problem.




    At the time of the Bikini tests, the Soviet Union was still three years and a month from exploding its first nuclear weapon. Its efforts to build one were under way on a bend in the Shagan River in eastern Kazakhstan, under the direction of a bearded young hero of Soviet science (and tightly closeted homosexual) named Igor Kurchatov. Stalin had deemed the bomb “Problem Number One.” He had created a special state committee to ensure that no expense was spared in solving it. Whole mountains in Bulgaria had been commandeered to give Kurchatov the uranium he needed. But Kurchatov was not an innovator. He was a nuclear plagiarist, almost completely dependent on intelligence from left-leaning scientists in the Manhattan Project in Los Alamos. As he admitted in a 1943 memo to the Council of People’s Commissars, this flow of intelligence had “immense, indeed incalculable importance for our State and science”—but in 1946 the flow had slowed suddenly to a trickle.




    Just a year earlier, not one but two descriptions of the first bomb tested at Los Alamos were in the Kremlin nearly two weeks before it even exploded. After that test, more detailed diagrams of the device reached Moscow than were provided in the first official nuclear report to Congress. One was smuggled out of Albuquerque in a box of Kleenex. Atomic espionage was never more bountiful than this. But on November 7, 1945, Elizabeth Terrill Bentley, a thirty-seven-year-old graduate of Vassar and a paid-up Soviet agent, went to the FBI with a 107-page description of Soviet intelligence activities in North America. The following day J. Edgar Hoover sent a secret memo to the White House based on Bentley’s material. It produced few arrests because she offered scant supporting evidence, but her defection forced Moscow to shut down most of the channels feeding nuclear secrets to Kurchatov.




    There were other reasons why Soviet espionage in the United States was grinding to a halt. Victory in the war had removed the most compelling reason for scientists at Los Alamos to share designs with their former Soviet allies—the defeat of Nazism. And the U.S. Army had at last begun decoding encrypted Soviet cable traffic, code-named Venona, that corroborated many of Bentley’s allegations.




    Without vital intelligence from the true pioneers of nuclear fission in New Mexico, Kurchatov would not be able to complete the bomb. Without the bomb, the most that the Soviet empire could hope to do was defend its interminable frontiers. As the Bikini lagoon erupted, the outlook for international Communism looked bleak indeed. Yet from the bowels of the Lyubianka—headquarters of the KGB and the true engine room of the revolution—there came a glimmer of hope.
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    “There are many countries in our blood, aren’t there, but only one person.”




    Graham Greene (via Mr. Wormald in a cable to MI6


    headquarters in Our Man in Havana)




    Shortly before midday on November 14, 1948, an aging Cunard liner laden with immigrants picked up a pilot for the last few miles of its transatlantic crossing. It nosed up the Saint Lawrence Seaway beneath the lowering darkness of the Plains of Abraham and docked in Quebec at five past one. A cold wind raked the quayside. The SS Scythia had been nine days at sea since leaving Cuxhaven on the north German coast. Most of its passengers were in family groups being met by those who had made the journey before them. Most were refugees from the joyless austerity of a country destroyed by war and occupied by its victors. They stepped cautiously down the Scythia’s gangplanks, wrapped in thick coats, clutching what they would need for the first few hours of their new lives.




    For a few moments Andrew Kayotis may have stood out among them. As a single man, middle-aged, taller than average despite his stoop, it was probably unavoidable. But he did not stand out for long. No one met him. He carried only a suitcase so had no need of a porter. His papers were in order. He showed his passport, walked briskly to the railway station on the Rue Saint-Pierre, and bought a ticket for the first train to Montreal.




    “Kayotis” had spent the crossing reading quietly in his cabin, taking walks on the Scythia’s promenade deck, and talking very little. The voyage had been a hiatus between two worlds, and two identities. His real name was William Fisher. His future name was Emil Goldfus. His Kayotis papers were a convenience of transition, to be torn up and flushed away as soon as Goldfus was ready to spring to life. His code name was “Arach,” and for nine years from the moment he stepped ashore in Quebec he was the most senior Soviet spy in North America.




    *  *  *




    At his trial, Fisher would be called a threat to the free world and to civilization itself. It is more accurate to think of him as the Forrest Gump of Soviet foreign intelligence. Most Americans who had dealings with him decided he was “brilliant,” and it was true that he could speak five languages and amuse himself for hours with logarithmic tables and back issues of Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. But his brilliance never got him far. His luck got him much further. He was a mild, stoic, generous man, far too good natured for his profession, who rode his luck through the terrifying middle decades of the twentieth century straight into the safe haven of the Atlanta Federal Penitentiary.




    By the time Life magazine published its article on the Bikini blasts, Fisher had been in training for the toughest assignment of his career for nearly a year. It would take him into the heart and soul of the Main Adversary—the United States, that vast and baffling country that somehow produced guns and butter (and Rita Hayworth) with no guiding hand at the controls of its economy.




    Fisher’s main task was to rebuild the Soviet spy network in America. If he succeeded, the flow of information from Los Alamos and the top secret fuel enrichment laboratory at Oak Ridge, Tennessee, would start again. Stalin’s scientists would conquer nuclear fission, then leapfrog the West to make a reality of fusion, and the H-bomb as well. Berlin, Washington, and London would quake without a shot being fired. That was the fantasy, and as long as Fisher was safely ensconced at a KGB training facility in the woods outside Moscow, there was no harm in fantasizing.




    Fisher’s superiors had chosen him for his background and his personality. As far as they could tell he was a man of unswerving loyalty and discipline. He was educated but not overeducated. In the war he had shown respect for tradecraft and courage under fire. He was a genius with radios and able to deflect attention from himself as completely as a mirror.




    He was quite unlike the KGB’s best-known British recruits, the so-called Cambridge Five, whom he detested. Kim Philby, Donald Maclean, Guy Burgess, John Cairncross, and Anthony Blunt were cosseted products of the English class system. Fisher was a stranger to privilege. He saw himself as a Soviet patriot and the others as traitors to their motherland. They were louche and libidinous. He was ascetic. They were dilettantes. He was a Bolshevik born and bred—yet he was also irresistibly human. “There was something—can I say that?—lovable about him.” That was the verdict of the man whom Fisher fooled most comprehensively about his true identity, the New York artist Burton Silverman.




    Fisher was rail thin, with the countenance of a weasel and a mental toughness that still amazes those who knew him. He switched identities throughout his working life but never forgot his own. He could hold forth for hours on music theory or mathematics, both of which he taught himself. He was a soulful player of the classical guitar and a passable painter whose work Robert Kennedy would later try to hang in the White House.




    He was born in Newcastle upon Tyne in the north of England in 1903 to German parents. He moved with them to Russia at age eighteen. Those bare facts of his biography gave him fluency in the three languages a secret agent of his era needed most. His father gave him his vocation: Heinrich Fisher was already a committed revolutionary when he first met Lenin in the 1890s. Having grown up on an aristocrat’s estate in central Russia, he turned to Marxism with the zeal and arrogance of the autodidact. He and Lenin taught and agitated at the Saint Petersburg Technological Institution until Fisher senior was arrested for sedition and exiled to Archangel in the Russian Arctic in 1896. After that, as an ethnic German, he faced deportation and compulsory service in the German army. England offered refuge. Heinrich sailed with his young wife to Newcastle upon Tyne, where they had two sons. The first was named Henry after his father. The second was William, but they called him Willie.




    After the 1905 Russian revolution failed, Willie’s father turned to gunrunning to help the proletariat he had left behind. (One shipment that was discovered before being dispatched to the Baltic included more than a million rounds of ammunition, including some for the type of Mauser pistol used to assassinate Czar Nicholas.) After the 1917 revolution succeeded, the Fishers returned to Russia to put themselves at its service.




    Willie Fisher embraced the great Soviet experiment in utopia building, and it embraced him back. He joined the Communist Youth League, which put him to work as a translator. Then he served two years in the Red Army as a radio operator. He was young enough for his command of languages and experience of a foreign country to be a qualification, not grounds for suspicion. By the age of twenty-four, in the eyes of the ever-expanding Soviet intelligence apparatus, he was ripe for recruitment. He was also married to the illegitimate daughter of a Polish count.




    Elena Lebedeva, a ballerina-turned-harpist at the Moscow Conservatory, met Fisher at a party in 1926. She glimpsed in him a loneliness and self-sufficiency at once intriguing and forbidding, which he carried with him all the way to Glienicke Bridge. When he proposed to her she asked him: “But do you love me?”




    “How do I know if I love you?” he replied. “Your character is soft and warm. I’m the opposite, but we’ll make a good couple. We’ll complement each other.”




    We’ll complement each other. Such bleak detachment may have helped him withstand the strain of life as a covert agent, but it was born of tragedy. A few weeks after their arrival in Russia, in the summer of 1921, Willie and Henry had been helping to look after a large group of children camping on the banks of a river outside Moscow. One of the children had been dragged under by an unseen current. Henry had dived in and saved the child but drowned immediately afterward. Willie, who had never learned to swim, could only stand and watch. He was inconsolable.




    With Elena, he could at least find contentment and security. Through her family’s connections he landed his first job with the OGPU, precursor to the KGB. In 1931 they left Moscow with a baby daughter on his first long foreign assignment. Their destination: Norway.




    When the Fishers crossed the frontier into Finland in September 1931, they crossed into the netherworld of Soviet “illegals.” The term is misleading, as all spies worth the label break the law. But in the language of the Cheka, the original Bolshevik terror apparatus, “illegal” had a special meaning. It recalled the revolutionary underground in which the party’s founders had first confronted the czarist secret police; and the code names they had adopted; and the exploits of the first generation of Soviet agents sent abroad to spread the revolution when no other European country would recognize the murderous new regime.




    “Lenin” was the code name of one Vladimir Ulyanov. “Stalin” was that of Joseph Dzhugashvili. Fisher’s code name, to begin with, was Frank. He did not keep it long, but the intelligence chiefs who ran his career remained fixated by the cult of the illegals until well after they had outlived their usefulness, and they remained convinced that Fisher was ideally suited to the job.




    In a sense, he was. Like a nuclear submarine, he proved he could stay hidden almost indefinitely. But hiding took so much of his energy that it is doubtful whether he had much left over to find out anything useful about his enemy. “He was a brilliant and conscientious spy,” a retired KGB general who played a central role in securing Fisher’s eventual release insists to this day. “It is an obvious fact that he was handling agents about whom the Americans still know nothing.” In fact this is not obvious at all. There is no evidence that Fisher recruited any useful agents who have not yet been identified or transmitted any significant intelligence collected by those who have been. This did not stop both sides colluding in the creation of the legend of Willie Fisher—by another name—as the most effective Soviet spy of the cold war.




    In Oslo, his work protected him. It was simple and unobtrusive: his job was to build his cover as an importer of electrical appliances and establish a network of radio relay stations to help Moscow communicate with other spies in northern Europe. For three years he busied himself in the attics of Communist sympathizers and unsuspecting clients, hiding and testing radio equipment. He and his young family lived quietly on the Baltic coast, while in Russia the Cheka began to devour its own.




    For decades, Stalin’s reign of terror was understood as an expression of his own peculiar madness. But his purging of the intelligence apparatus that he relied on to control his empire may have a more rational explanation—that he had been a traitor himself. The claim was first published in the 1990s in a Russian biography of Stalin by Edvard Radzhinsky. Vasili Mitrokhin’s treasure trove of documents on Soviet foreign intelligence, smuggled out of Russia as the Soviet Union collapsed, also contained evidence that Stalin may have been a paid informer of the czar’s secret police before 1917. If so, the information would go at least some way toward explaining his merciless paranoia toward anyone connected—however tenuously—to the Bolshevik old guard.




    As a Chekist whose father had known Lenin, Fisher was lucky not to be woken in the night and summarily executed on his return to Moscow. Instead he was merely fired. A friend of his father’s found him a job in an aircraft factory before Hitler changed everything by invading Russia. From the moment the panzers rumbled into Minsk, Soviet national survival took precedence over personal—and national survival would need a functioning intelligence service. In September 1941, Fisher was reinstated as a lieutenant in the Cheka, by then renamed the People’s Commissariat for Internal Affairs, or NKVD. “He was lucky,” his Russian biographer remarked later. “Russia was inefficient. If it had been Germany, he would have been shot.”




    He had an outstanding war. Adopted as a protégé of Pavel Sudoplatov, the mastermind of Trotsky’s murder in Mexico the year before, Fisher edged, Gump-like, onto the main stage of the vast theater of the eastern front. On November 7, 1941, a day still etched in gold in Russia’s official history, he found himself in a blizzard in Red Square.




    It was the anniversary of the revolution. The Germans had advanced to within a day’s march of the Kremlin, but Stalin decreed that the annual Red Army parade should proceed as normal. “My pass to the parade was stamped prokhod vsidy, which meant I was allowed access to the leadership standing in review on top of Lenin’s tomb,” Sudoplatov recalled. He had been ordered by Lavrenty Beria, Stalin’s chief henchman, to report any military developments to him immediately on the rostrum on Lenin’s mausoleum. “The situation was critical: the German advance was only thirty miles from Moscow. I brought along with me to Red Square a young captain, William Fisher, chief of the radio communications section of my department. . . . We stayed in touch with NKVD headquarters and the brigade defending Moscow. It was snowing so heavily that the Germans could not send aircraft to bomb Red Square. However, the order for the troops participating in the parade was very strict: no matter what happens, stay calm and maintain discipline.”




    As the parade was coming to an end, Captain Fisher received a request from the front for reinforcements. He passed it to Sudoplatov, who passed it to Stalin, who gave perhaps the most cinematic military order of his career. Through driving snow, several battalions marched directly from Red Square to the front, where they covered themselves in glory by deflecting the German advance.




    The following year Fisher was involved in what Sudoplatov called “the most successful radio deception game of the war.” The game was played with the cooperation of Lieutenant Colonel Heinrich Scherhorn, a German artillery commander trapped by Soviet forces in the forests of Belorussia in the summer of 1944. On August 19, a Soviet double agent code-named Max reported to German intelligence that Scherhorn was surrounded by 2,500 men but still able to fight. In fact he was a prisoner of the Russians and remained one for the rest of the war, while the German high command wasted precious resources re-supplying his fictitious force. One supply run involved sixty-seven transport planes, thirteen portable radios, and ten million rubles in cash. Some of the aircraft were allowed to land and return to prolong the hoax. The rest were impounded and their crews taken prisoner.




    Fisher was modest to a fault and, later in life, never made the mistake of believing his own publicity. But if his daughter ever asked him what he did in the war, he could reasonably have replied that he helped to win it. That was certainly the view of his bosses in the KGB. His reward was the most prestigious post in Soviet foreign intelligence: America.




    *  *  *




    “I would rather perish than betray the secrets entrusted to me. . . . With every heartbeat, with every day that passes, I swear to serve the Party, the homeland and the Soviet People.”




    In late October 1948, Willie Fisher swore the illegals’ oath at a solemn meeting with his handlers in the Lyubianka, where the NKVD had its headquarters. He was then summoned to the offices of Vyacheslav Molotov, the former Soviet foreign minister. They talked about Fisher’s mission and were joined afterward by his family for dinner. It was an astonishing amount of attention to lavish on a mere illegal. Whatever happened to him in America, in Russia he had arrived.




    Apart from Stalin himself, no one personified Soviet power and cunning like Molotov. He had dined with Hitler, signed away Poland and the Baltics in the Nazi-Soviet nonaggression pact, girded the Soviet empire for resistance when Hitler invaded, and inspired his very own cocktail, the anti-Soviet petrol bomb. Now he was anointing Willie Fisher as his secret weapon in the new war against America. Old Heinrich Fisher would have burst with pride.




    After the dinner Willie returned with his wife and daughter to their dacha and said good-bye. He would not see them again for seven years.




    He was driven to the Leningradsky station in a black limousine and seen off by Viktor Abakumov, the founder of SMERSH (in English, Death to Spies, whose Russian acronym Ian Fleming borrowed in his search for a worthy rival for James Bond).1 From there Fisher took a train to Warsaw and another to Cuxhaven. Alone and surely lonesome, he boarded the SS Scythia. His genuine American passport bore his own picture but the name Andrew Kayotis. Fisher never used his real name again.




    The real Kayotis, Lithuanian born and Detroit bred, had conveniently died while visiting relatives in Vilnius the previous year. His papers had been spirited to Moscow. His life story, gleaned from his surviving Lithuanian family, had been absorbed by the tall, spare passenger who ate by himself and read quietly for hours at a time as the Scythia set course via Le Havre for the New World.




    *  *  *




    On paper, Fisher’s workload was crushing. Besides reviving the spy network that had kick-started the Soviet nuclear program, he was tasked with single-handedly softening up the North American continent for the Third World War. “His mission would be to gain access to military installations, warehouses, and stored supplies of ammunition,” Sudoplatov wrote, as if none of that should have presented a problem for a competent undercover radio ham. “We badly needed to know how quickly American reinforcements could appear in Europe.” Later, Sudoplatov’s biographers cast Fisher’s role in even grander terms: “He directed preparations to take over the Western Hemisphere in case the rising tensions between the United States and the Soviet Union turned into a new world war.”




    In practice Fisher had been unleashed on the Western world with few realistic obligations and no serious deadlines. He had ten days in which to make his way by bus through New England to keep a prearranged appointment in New York. There a contact from the Soviet consulate general gave him a thousand dollars in cash and a new identity in the name of Emil Goldfus. As Goldfus he went walkabout.




    Willie Fisher was by this time forty-five, happily married, and a deeply committed Communist. He was also more alone than he had ever been, as forcibly reliant on himself as a cosmonaut cut loose from his space station. It is hard to imagine his state of mind as he simultaneously scouted the country for ammunition dumps and fought to reconcile the Soviet caricature of America with his first impressions of the reality—of the richest nation on earth, unscarred by war. He would have had the solo traveler’s heightened awareness, the salivary overload of the half-starved Soviet worker released into a place of unimaginable bounty, and the gradually abating paranoia of a spy at large in the land of the free.




    It is even harder to know for certain where Fisher went or what he did—though all the clues suggest he headed for the sun. He was drawn first to California. He had orders to find out if the United States was still shipping arms to Chiang Kai-shek and his Chinese nationalists from the port of Long Beach (it was). While in California Fisher also found time to create a brand-new network of “agent informers” recruited mainly from German Jewish émigrés, according to Sudoplatov. Their role in the event of a “Special Period” (a U.S.-Soviet war) would be to join forces with illegals disguised as seasonal workers streaming north from Central America to paralyze the giant defense contractors of the West Coast with a campaign of coordinated sabotage. There never was a Special Period, however, so we may never know how much of Fisher’s ambitious agenda was real and how much camouflage for a richly deserved vacation.




    On his way back to New York, he probably paused in Santa Fe.




    The adobe plaza of New Mexico’s favorite tourist destination was the closest a Soviet intelligence officer could get to Los Alamos without attracting too much attention from the FBI. It was fortunate, then, that the KGB already had a safe house there, disguised as a pharmacy. This has been identified by Jerrold Schecter, a former Time magazine Moscow bureau chief who smuggled Khrushchev’s autobiography out of Russia for publication in the 1960s, as Zook’s Drugstore. It no longer exists, but it did in the 1940s. It had a decent lunch counter, and there are reasons to believe it served the purpose Schecter says it did: Santa Fe had been a vital staging point for the NKVD team that murdered Trotsky in a villa outside Mexico City in 1940.




    Santa Fe was also the obvious collection point for stolen diagrams from the Manhattan Project, and a former pupil of Fisher’s had spent a year there during the war passing secrets from physicists to couriers. Her name was Kitty Harris. The bigamous wife of the head of the Communist Party USA and former lover of the suave British traitor Donald Maclean, Harris had been recruited by Soviet intelligence in the early 1930s. As part of her basic training she had been taught how to use a radio by Willie Fisher.




    So many roads led to Santa Fe that he almost certainly dropped by, if only in the spirit of Curious George. And so it was, in all likelihood, that the spearhead of Stalin’s foreign intelligence operation, the man Molotov had ordered to wreak havoc across America should the looming clash of ideologies come to war, stepped off a Greyhound bus into the clear light and astringent air of northern New Mexico sometime in the early spring of 1949. He liked to wear a straw hat to cover his balding pate. His tailored Daks trousers conveyed a hint of style and affluence. He dabbed his nose constantly with white linen handkerchiefs and carried a suitcase. If asked, he had lived across the Midwest and worked variously as an accountant, engineer, and photo-finisher but was now “semi-retired and self-employed.” He lived in New York City.




    Forced to live in unfamiliar countries and under layer upon layer of disguise, many illegals went to pieces, or to the other side, or both. Fisher did not. His straightforward devotion to Communism was one reason. His devotion to his family was another: they were the KGB’s guarantee that he would not defect. But there may have been a third explanation for his loyalty: a desire to emulate the great illegals in whose footsteps he was following. One of these was Arnold Deutsch, recruiter of the Cambridge Five and indulger of their sexual shenanigans. Deutsch had been rewarded during the war with the promise of the post of senior illegal in New York—in effect, Fisher’s job—but he had drowned on the way there when his ship was torpedoed in the mid-Atlantic. Another was Alexander “the Swede” Orlov, code name “Schwed.” Orlov had endeared himself to the Kremlin by spiriting the entire gold reserves of the Spanish government to Moscow during the Spanish civil war. He then enraged Stalin by defecting to Chicago and threatening to expose him as a czarist informer should any harm come to the family Orlov had left behind.




    If Fisher was in awe of such chutzpah, he did not show it. Around July 11, 1949—his forty-sixth birthday—he returned to New York for another scheduled meeting, this time with a “legal” KGB resident at the Soviet consulate general who refilled his wallet with cash and took him for a walk in Bear Mountain State Park. At one point the resident was about to ask a park ranger the time when Fisher jumped in and did the talking to save his contact from having to reveal his Russian accent.




    Two spies, and not a watch between them.




    Soon afterward, Fisher was ordered to reactivate the Volunteer network that had handled most of the logistics for the smuggling of nuclear secrets to Russia. This was easier said than done. Most of the network’s sources had stopped cooperating. Security at Los Alamos had been tightened since the war, and Fisher was obsessed above all with not getting caught. Even so, he went through the motions. His first move was to contact Lona Cohen, formerly a housekeeper to a wealthy Manhattan family, now married to Morris Cohen and half of a famous KGB double act. Lona and Willie had arranged to meet at the Bronx Zoo, but on the way there she sensed she had a tail. She did; it was Willie, dusting off his tradecraft. She doubled back, changed subway lines, and stepped in and out of train cars as the doors were closing but couldn’t shake him. Eventually they sat down next to each other on a bench outside the bird house and introduced themselves.




    The Cohens ran the Volunteer network and were veteran couriers themselves. It was Lona, in fact, who had hidden a diagram of the bomb used in the Trinity test of July 1945 in a box of tissues in case she was searched on her way back to New York. Like Fisher, the Cohens would have been much busier in 1949 if Elizabeth Bentley—the Soviet spy who gave her secrets to the FBI in 1945—and J. Edgar Hoover had not between them muzzled many of Moscow’s best sources of nuclear intelligence. Yet these sources had not dried up completely.




    Soon after the end of the war, Niels Bohr, the Danish genius of atomic structure, had nervously agreed to help Igor Kurchatov achieve a stable nuclear reaction. Klaus Fuchs, the German-born physicist, was also still leaking valuable information, though by this time from the Harwell research laboratory outside London. And yet another Soviet mole, George Koval, who was not unmasked until 2007, provided the critically important recipe for a polonium initiator without which the Los Alamos team had found that a plutonium-based bomb would not achieve a chain reaction. Kurchatov had long since been focused on plutonium—he had found that even with all the uranium in Bulgaria he did not have enough of it—and on August 29, 1949, his plutonium bomb at last went off. Willie Fisher had almost nothing to do with it, but it was still the high point of his espionage career.




    The mushroom cloud that rose off the steppe that day ended the American nuclear monopoly and occasioned rare largesse from the Kremlin. On the personal orders of Lavrenty Beria, by then the second-most-powerful man in the Soviet Union, the children of foreign illegals who had been involved in the grand theft of the capitalist bomb were given automatic places at university. For being in roughly the right place at the right time, Fisher and the Cohens were also awarded the Order of the Red Banner, an honor normally reserved for military heroes. But for Fisher in particular the party was over before it had begun. Ted Hall, one of Lona Cohen’s best sources at Los Alamos, had moved to Chicago and given up spying: “No more,” he told Fisher and Cohen when they tried one last time to talk him out of his decision. “I helped you during the wartime and now it is over.” Klaus Fuchs had been identified in the decrypted Venona Soviet intelligence cables and was arrested in London in January 1950. He named his main contact, who in turn identified two idealistic but ineffectual Communist spies, Julius and Ethel Rosenberg. They were tried, convicted, and sentenced to death in 1951. Their appeals would last two years and fail. The Cohens had already fled the country. Fisher tried and failed to recruit a young man Lona Cohen had cared for in her previous life as a housekeeper. He could be grateful that the Rosenbergs did not reveal anything to lead the FBI to him, but otherwise the outlook for his brave new spy network could hardly have been bleaker.




    Until, that is, a white thumbtack appeared on a signpost in New York’s Central Park in October 1952.




    *  *  *




    Soviet illegals spent years establishing their cover and almost as long practicing secure communications. In the 1950s that did not mean sixty-four-bit digital encryption. It meant pencils and pads of paper (to be destroyed after one use), hollowed-out coins and bolts, rolls and tiny flakes of microfilm, dead drops, and signals for dead drops. Apart from shortwave radios there was not much communication equipment in use by the KGB in the midtwentieth century that would not have been available at the turn of the nineteenth.




    The Americans behaved differently. Faced with the new realities of the nuclear age, the CIA went looking for new hardware. It commissioned extraordinary machines that might not be possible to build but would solve big problems if they could be. Roosevelt had done this with the atom bomb. Kennedy would do it with the moon rocket. Was it not the American way?




    It was, but it could still take desk jockeys by surprise.




    Don Flickinger, later an air force general, was at his desk in the Life Sciences Division of the air force’s Aero Research and Development Command in Baltimore one January morning in 1955 when his commanding officer summoned him urgently. Flickinger was told that the secretary of the air force wanted to see him “ASAP.” He said he could drive down to Washington anytime in the next day or so. The CO said no: he needed to be there in the next hour. A car was waiting.




    The drive was quick. On arrival at the Pentagon, Flickinger was taken straight to the secretary and told on strict need-to-know terms that a new high-altitude reconnaissance plane was being built to an extremely tight deadline on the West Coast.




    The secretary then asked Flickinger about pressure suits. Could the suits that the air force was using in its rocket planes keep a pilot alive if his cockpit depressurized at seventy thousand feet? They could, Flickinger said, as long as the pilot descended quickly to about ten thousand feet.




    “Let us assume that the pilot cannot descend from the specified mission altitude of seventy thousand feet,” the secretary said.




    “Why not?” Flickinger asked.




    “Because underneath is not friendly but strictly forbidden territory,” said the secretary.




    “Why is it forbidden to the pilot?”




    “Because underneath is the Soviet Union.”




    That put a new complexion on the problem, and the meeting. Flickinger explained that the best suits available at that point were get-me-down suits only. If getting down was not an option, pilot and plane would both be lost. But that was the outcome that was not an option, the secretary observed. How long would it take to produce a better suit? Three to five years, Flickinger said, given the necessary funds. The secretary stood up, walked around his desk, and said he didn’t have three years. He had ten months.




    *  *  *




    The thumbtack in Central Park was left there by a man who claimed to be a former blacksmith from Lapland. It was true that he had lived in Lapland and worked briefly as a blacksmith, but it would have been more useful for the FBI (and Willie Fisher) to know that he was also a wife beater, an alcoholic, and quite possibly the worst spy in the history of the KGB. It was this man, more than anyone, who made Fisher look good. His name was Reino Hayhanen and he was fresh off the Queen Mary.




    In 1952 Hayhanen was thirty-two, and his best years were behind him. Why such a dismal underachiever should have been given a central role in the collection of nuclear intelligence and the disruption of what is now called U.S. homeland security remains a mystery. There are explanations, but none suffices. His parents were Soviet citizens but ethnic Finns, so he spoke Finnish and would eventually pass as a Finnish-American. He was a diligent schoolboy who had earned a place at the Leningrad Pedagogical Institute, from which he was sucked into the lower ranks of the NKVD as its higher ranks were decimated in the terrifying purges that became known as the Terror. Perhaps most important, he happened to be known to the new head of the KGB’s illegals directorate, Aleksandr Korotkov. A man of naked ambition but no apparent judgment, Korotkov owed his own rise through the bureaucracy to a two-year stint supervising the assassination of Trotskyites in Paris before the war and a willingness to disown his Jewish wife and children during the purges.




    Hayhanen could at least claim to have run a few risks in the cause of secrecy. By the time he set sail for New York he had spent two years hammering metal and bribing neighbors in northern Finland to establish his legend as Eugene Maki, the son of returned Finnish-American emigrants. That proved enough to obtain a U.S. passport from the consulate in Helsinki. He had also married an attractive young Finn named Hannah Kurikka (without divorcing his first wife, whom he left in Russia). And he had crossed the Soviet-Finnish border undetected in the trunk of a KGB car not once but three times. He was no coward.




    He announced his arrival without incident. As instructed, a week after disembarking the Queen Mary he took a walk up the West Side of Manhattan and entered the park at Seventy-ninth Street. There was the Tavern on the Green, exactly where he had been told it would be. There was the bridle path and the white-painted wooden signpost. The thumbtack in his pocket, also white, would be invisible except to someone who was looking for it. He stuck it in and kept walking. No one noticed.




    No one at all. For six months, on the twenty-first of each month, Hayhanen took the subway to the Lincoln Road exit of the Prospect Park station in Brooklyn. He would smoke a pipe and wear a blue tie with red stripes. If any Soviet official needed to make contact with the new number two illegal in North America, this was where and when to do it. No one did. The only response to his thumbtack came in a hollowed-out 1948 Jefferson nickel left at a dead drop whose location, like that of the signpost, he had memorized in training. But before Hayhanen had a chance to open the coin, he either spent it or he lost it.
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